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This book is dedicated to those who fell







And Ardennes waves above them her green leaves,


Dewy with nature’s tear-drops, as they pass,


Grieving, if aught inanimate e’er grieves,


Over the unreturning brave, – alas!


Ere evening to be trodden like the grass Which now beneath them, but above shall grow In its next verdure, when this fiery mass Of living valour, rolling on the foe


And burning with high hope, shall moulder cold and low.


LORD BYRON,


Childe Harold’s Pilgrimage
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PROLOGUE


The Day After


Mrs Tidy, whose husband Colonel Frank Tidy commanded a battalion of the 14th Regiment of Foot, received news of the great victory at Waterloo when a coach passed the gate of her cottage on the Isle of Wight, ‘streaming with gilded flags that bore the words “Wellington! Victory! Waterloo!”’ Her children saw them and rushed in to tell their mother. ‘There has been a battle,’ they said, ‘they have been fighting the French and we have beaten them.’ But Mrs Tidy’s concerns were more immediate. Was her husband still alive? Had he survived the battle uninjured? And, if not, how was she now to raise the son and daughter who crowded round her? Her priority was to get to the post town and find out. She was to be one of the lucky ones. There was a short letter from her husband waiting for her, saying that his favourite mare had been shot from under him but otherwise he was safe. Her daughter remembers her sitting that evening on a low hall chair in the porch of their cottage, Carisbrooke Castle in the distance, her husband’s letter in her hand, and she reading it aloud. ‘The golden sun streamed up the garden-walk, and shed its light upon our little group: bees murmured in the jasmined porch, and the perfume of June flowers came floating through the open door.’


Others were to be less fortunate. About 55,000 men were killed or wounded at Waterloo. Sergeant Thomas Howell of the Highland Light Infantry noted prosaically of an artillery barrage, ‘The young man I lately spoke of lost both his legs by a shot at this time. They were cut very close; he soon bled to death. “Tom,” he said, “remember your charge: my mother wept sore when my brother died; if she saw me thus, it would break her heart. Farewell! God bless my parents!” He said no more, his lips quivered and he ceased to breathe.’ Many of the wounded lay where they had fallen. ‘I went to visit the field of battle,’ wrote Major Frye four days afterwards, ‘but the sight was too horrible to behold. The multitude of carcasses, the heaps of wounded men with mangled limbs unable to move, and perishing from not having their wounds dressed or from hunger.’ The dead were tipped into ‘large square holes . . . thirty or forty fine fellows stripped to their skins were thrown into each pell mell, and then covered in so slovenly a manner that sometimes a hand or foot peeped through the earth’. Some Russian Jews were assisting in this spoliation of the dead, by chiselling out their teeth, ‘an operation they performed with the most brutal indifference’.1 Local Belgians went out to shoot the hundreds of wounded horses so they could eat them.


Major Cavalié Mercer was woken early in his bloody bivouac on the day after the battle. One of his sergeants asked him whether he might bury Driver Crammond. ‘And why Driver Crammond?’ asked Mercer. ‘Because he looks frightful, sir; many of us have not had a wink of sleep for him,’ replied the sergeant. Mercer went to look. ‘A cannon shot had carried away the whole head except barely the visage, which still remained attached to the torn and bloody neck. The men said they had been prevented sleeping by seeing his eyes fixed on them all night; and thus one dreadful object had superseded all the other horrors by which they were surrounded.’2 The British army’s sang-froid was in evidence. A short distance away, Mercer found two light-infantrymen, one who had lost his leg and the other who had had his thigh smashed by a cannon shot. But they were ‘sending forth such howling and wailings, and oaths and execrations’, which Mercer contrasted disapprovingly with the ‘quiet resolute bearing of hundreds’ of both English and French wounded lying around them. They could easily see where ‘G’ Troop of the Royal Horse Artillery had been, as their carcasses formed ‘a dark mass which, even from that distance, formed a remarkable feature in the field’.


The bodies lay on the battlefield ‘like sheaves cut down by the hand of the reaper’. Captain Frederick Pattison was struck by their ‘diversity of expression. From the distortion of their faces many of them must have had a terrible struggle with “the king of terrors”; others, from the placidity of their expression, seemed as if they had sunk into refreshing slumber. The separation between body and soul in their case must have been instantaneous.’3 Major Harry Smith, a veteran of Spain and the terrible siege at Badajoz, ‘had never seen anything compared with what I saw . . . the whole field from right to left was a mass of dead bodies. In one spot, to the right of La Haye Sainte, the French Cuirassiers were literally piled on each other; many soldiers not wounded lying under their horses; others, fearfully wounded, occasionally with their horses struggling upon their wounded bodies. The sight was sickening.’4


The Battle of Waterloo is arguably the British Army’s most famous victory and certainly one of the most significant it has ever fought. It took place only 200 years ago, which is not quite as distant a memory as we generally suppose. There are people still alive whose grandparents fought there, although they were born too late actually to have talked to them about their experiences, and the last veterans lived until the 1890s. The last English person to witness the battle, Elizabeth Watkins, died only in 1903. Her father, Daniel Gale, was one of the many who joined up in March 1815 and took his wife and child with him to Belgium, as was common practice. She remembered cutting up lint and seeing many dead. Thérèse Roland, a local Belgian, was still mourning Napoleon’s defeat in 1904 when she was 103 years old. She remembered the sound of the battle, ‘like a rough sea breaking against the rocks’, and she recalled ‘one woman of Gotarville cut off the fingers of a Prussian officer, sorely hurt but still living, to secure the jewelled rings that he wore’.5


There are two main reasons why the battle still exercises such a hold on our imagination. First, it finally ended the Napoleonic Wars, which everyone except Napoleon had assumed had finished in 1814 with his first exile. There is a tendency today to regard Napoleon’s wars as in some way glamorous and chivalric but the reality for early-nineteenth-century Europe was very different. Seven million Europeans were killed as a direct result of warfare in the 23 years between 1792 and Waterloo in June 1815,6 and a fifth of all European battles fought between 1490 and Waterloo took place in that very short period. Societies were mobilised and nations broken up, economies ruined and families devastated in a manner similar to that which Europe experienced between 1939 and 1945. Britain escaped invasion then, as it did in 1940, but the impact of the wars on people at home was in many ways as far-reaching. Napoleon’s image, as a brilliant general, a great romantic, an inventive lover and an exceptional administrator, has outlived the brutal reality of what his political and military ambition meant both for Europe in general and France in particular. By 1815 at least one and a half million Frenchmen had lost their lives, a figure that rises to nearer 3 million if you include all the territory which could be counted part of the Empire. He left France hated and feared throughout Europe. Some contemporaries were as entranced by Napoleon as many people are today, confusing Napoleonic militarism and conquest with the early liberal principles of revolutionary France. They were, though, in a minority, and heartily detested by those who actually had to fight the French in the field or on the sea. Waterloo was so important because it put an end to that Napoleonic menace, brought peace to a generation who had known little but constant warfare, and allowed Europe to start to assimilate the revolutions in agriculture and industry that would transform her economically rather more successfully than Napoleon had attempted to do with violence.


The second reason it is such a famous battle is because of the extraordinary heroism of the British soldiers who fought there, and that is what this story is about. Much has been written about Napoleon and Wellington but not enough about the young ploughboys and weavers who stood on that bloody ridge and whose bravery and sacrifice saved Europe. That is not to say that soldiers of other nations did not fight as well or as courageously, particularly the French, whose conduct, at least in combat, earned the grudging respect of the British. It was, though, the obstinate determination of those British infantry battalions, those decimated cavalry regiments and mauled artillery batteries which stopped the French advance, allowed the Prussians to join the battle and ultimately defeated Napoleon. Who were they? Why were they soldiers? Why did they fight so bravely?


This is also the story of the British Army. Waterloo came at the end of the Napoleonic Wars, which meant that the British Army had already corrected the mistakes with which it habitually starts any campaign. It had competent generals and some inspirational leadership; it had good weapons and sound if basic tactics and, most importantly it had a core of professional officers and non-commissioned officers (whom we will refer to as NCOs) who had recent operational experience fighting the French in the Iberian Peninsula. But this was not the Peninsular Army. That had been disbanded and dispersed in 1814 after Napoleon’s first exile when the British government had, equally habitually, decided prematurely that it could severely reduce it. The officers and NCOs might have been experienced, but Waterloo was the first battle in which most of the young private soldiers had fought. They were volunteers who had joined the Army of their own free will. They may have joined for a variety of reasons, not all from sheer patriotism as we will see, but the idea that they were the ‘scum of the earth’, flogged into battle by an authoritarian duke, is as false an image as that which suggests the French army they were fighting took the field for love of their emperor. The British Army at Waterloo had more in common with that which deployed to France in 1914 or stood on the beaches at Dunkirk than it did with its eighteenth-century predecessors. The soldiers who fought in 1815 served for the same reasons as British soldiers serve today and the ethos and pride which bound them recently in Iraq and Afghanistan was the same that held their forebears in the squares against Napoleon’s cavalry.


They were also remarkably literate. Improvements in education, particularly village church schools, meant that approximately half those who fought at Waterloo could read and write, which was considerably more than at the start of the Napoleonic Wars. There are few letters or diaries from the battles of the 1790s, more from the Peninsular Campaign of 1808–14 but hundreds from Waterloo. Some of these are written by men who joined in the months before the battle, as many did, particularly from the militia, but most are by career soldiers. This means that Waterloo is the first major battle about which we know a great deal of detail from the first-hand accounts of the men who fought in the ranks rather than, as was more common before, from the politicians and generals who were often trying retrospectively to justify their actions. It is these letters, diaries and memoirs that I have used to write this book. My problem has not been to find enough materials but rather to decide what to ignore.


I have quoted their words literally wherever possible, resisting the temptation to tidy them into what we would consider more grammatically correct modern English. This can occasionally make them a bit difficult to understand, and you may have to read the odd piece two or three times to understand its full meaning, but the authenticity of the language is, I think, more important.


No single person had a complete view of what happened at Waterloo. There were too many people involved in actions on different parts of the battlefield for anyone to know the exact sequence of events with authority. Those who had watches understandably had other priorities than regularly consulting them.


Lastly, what is most difficult to understand about Waterloo is just how many soldiers were crammed into the very restricted space that comprised the battlefield. It should not surprise us, given the limited firing range of the weapons they used but it can be confusing that so much seemed to be happening in such close proximity. It may be helpful to remember as you read that the great British cavalry charges took place over a distance of only about the length of a football pitch, and that an infantry battalion could only effectively influence the distance of a 100-metre running track.




THE BRITISH ARMY IN 1815


The British Army at Waterloo was made up of three distinct parts or ‘arms’ as soldiers refer to them:


The cavalry, who fought on horseback. It was divided into two parts. First, the heavy cavalry, big men on heavy horses whose role was shock action, to charge and overpower the enemy by sheer weight and mass. They carried carbines and pistols but only for patrolling duties and in battle always fought with swords. Secondly, the light cavalry, whose duties included reconnaissance, patrolling, escorts and guarding the army’s flanks, but who in battle were also used en masse to charge and destroy enemy formations. All the cavalry was organised in regiments, which varied in size between 300 and 600 strong, and which were commanded by a lieutenant-colonel. They were subdivided into troops in peacetime and when in barracks, usually of about 60, and commanded by a lieutenant. However, once deployed on operations, two to three troops were teamed up to form a squadron commanded by a captain or occasionally a major. Rank in the early-nineteenth-century Army was less rigidly tied to age and regimental appointment than it has since become, and although most lieutenants tended to be in their twenties, the vagaries of the British promotion system meant that it was quite common to find them in their fifties.


The infantry fought on their feet with muskets and bayonets. It too was divided into regiments, who were either one of the three élite Guards regiments or numbered (since 1752, before which they had been known by the name of their colonel) from 1 to 104. Each regiment was then divided into a series of battalions, usually two but sometimes three or only one depending largely on how good its recruiting was. Each battalion, of about 1,000 men, was sub-divided into ten companies of about 100 soldiers, commanded by a captain. Two of these were flank companies, in other words those that stood on the right and left flanks of the battalion when it was drawn up in line. The right-flank company was usually the grenadier company, so called from when they were once armed with grenades (one of Charles II’s less successful military experiments) but by Waterloo tended to have the tallest men. The left-flank company was the light company, with smaller, more active soldiers, as they were often used for skirmishing, which effectively meant acting as a screen in front of the main position. The remaining eight companies were known as the line companies, which accurately described their role. By Waterloo there was one regiment of rifles, which was to play a very active role in the battle.


The artillery served larger-calibre guns, either cannon, which were known by the size of the solid iron shot they fired (either six- or nine-pounders at Waterloo) or the modern howitzer, which fired an explosive shell at a higher trajectory. Rockets were also used at Waterloo, although the British generals were not at all sure they trusted them not to do more damage to their own soldiers than the enemy. The artillery was grouped either into batteries of foot artillery, who supported the infantry although the guns and ammunition wagons were horse-drawn, or troops of horse artillery, who drew six-pounders behind teams of eight horses (although one troop actually used nine-pounders at Waterloo), allowing them to move quickly so they could operate with the cavalry. Each battery or troop consisted of about 200 soldiers, who were either artillerymen who actually served the guns (usually five to each gun), or drivers who were recruited separately and who drove the gun trains and ammunition carts.


The other parts of the Army were a very small Corps of Royal Engineers, being about 250 specialist officers who advised the generals on mapping, bridging, defensive works and routes. Only eleven were present at Waterloo. There was also a corps of Royal Sappers and Miners, which was present in Belgium, working, slightly redundantly, on defences along the Belgian-French border, and an enormous pontoon or bridging train, capable of crossing a river of 100 metres, although it was not involved in the battle.


Lastly there were the staff officers. These were officers seconded from their regiments to form the headquarters of senior officers. They can be roughly divided into executive officers and aides-de-camp. The executive officers were either responsible for manning and discipline, and known as variations of Adjutant Generals (Deputy or Assistant), or for movement and operations, known as Quartermaster Generals of some description. Aides-de-camp, or ADCs, were younger officers whose role was to carry orders and messages from the general to his regiments during a battle. This was dangerous work, and many were to fall on 18 June. In addition larger headquarters like Wellington’s had a skeleton medical staff, an artillery staff, a Royal Engineer and a section for foreign military representatives, but the total was still only about 40 officers. Below that level, the headquarters were small, down to a brigade commander, who would have one executive officer, a brigade major, and some ADCs.


The supply system was civilian, divided into two parts. The Commissariat, responsible for acquiring supplies, and the Royal Waggon Train, responsible for delivering them. Regiments were critical of their commissaries, as soldiers always are of those responsible for supplying them, but generally they didn’t do a bad job.


When the British Army was deployed on an operation, such as the Waterloo campaign, the regiments and battalions were grouped together to form bigger units to make it easier to exercise command and control on the battlefield. Four battalions of infantry were brought together as a brigade, commanded by a major-general, and three or four brigades formed a division under a lieutenant-general, who, in the occasionally confusing British rank structure, ranks higher than a major-general. Divisions were in turn grouped into corps, of which there were three at Waterloo, commanded by the Prince of Orange, Lord Hill and Wellington himself. The artillery tended to be commanded at the divisional level. The cavalry were also grouped into brigades, there being two heavy brigades at Waterloo and five light brigades, each of three regiments.




1


JANUARY–MARCH 1815


The Royal Dragoons had been longing to get home. They had been fighting for five hard years in Portugal, Spain and more recently France as part of Wellington’s Peninsular Army and were looking forward to a heroes’ return. As with many British armies fighting overseas, home always seemed more attractive when they were missing it, and the thought of English food, English beer and English women sustained them through the last battles in south-western France around Toulouse and as they made the long ride north to the Channel ports. They arrived back in Dover on 19 July 1814, before being quickly despatched to Bristol, where they celebrated by going on a ‘bender’1 that lasted four days, helped by the issue of five months’ back pay. But once the initial celebrations were over, and the hangovers cured, they began to find that home life was not quite all they had imagined.


Lord Liverpool’s government thought the threat from Napoleon was over. The French emperor’s disastrous 1812 campaign in Russia had left France severely weakened militarily, so that – as Wellington closed on Paris from south-west France – the Russians, Austrians and Prussians, advancing from the east, defeated Napoleon decisively at Leipzig in October 1813. It was the bloodiest battle in the Napoleonic Wars, with the French losing a further 81,000 men to the Allies 54,000. By March 1814 the Allied armies had entered Paris and on 6 April Napoleon had abdicated. Louis XVIII was ‘restored’ on 11 April, and the victorious allies met at the Congress of Vienna to carve up the extraordinary European empire Napoleon had spent the last fifteen years creating. As always happens after major wars, the British government’s first and usually premature priority is to reduce the size and hence the cost of the armed forces, and in August 1814 the experienced and professional force that Wellington had commanded with such distinction was reduced by 20 per cent from its Peninsular peak of 287,000. Cavalry regiments like the Royal Dragoons were cut by a quarter, to six troops of 60 men, whilst the infantry lost 35 battalions, each of about 1,000 men, and the artillery was cut by 7,000.1 By the end of 1814 a total of 47,000 soldiers had been discharged.


These reductions were not surprising, nor unwelcome to the taxpayer, but they came as an unexpected shock to the soldiers themselves, not least because mechanisation was depressing the living standards of the industrialised working class from which most of them came and to which those discharged now had to return.2 This made jobs difficult to come by. Whilst their erstwhile commander-in-chief negotiated the future of monarchies and nations at the Congress of Vienna, many of the troops he had until so recently led felt the chill of being no longer wanted. Regiments took the opportunity to get rid of ‘old and worn out men and bad subjects’. The Royal Dragoons, or ‘the Royals’ as they were always known, were not sorry to see the back of their Provost Marshal, Sergeant Else, whom the regiment thought so stiff ‘that it seemed as if he had swallowed a poker’,3 and who had been responsible for discipline. Within a month he had been convicted of theft in Birmingham and hanged; those soldiers whose backs still bore the marks of the lashes inflicted by the cat o’ nine tails must have permitted themselves a satisfied smile. A few older soldiers were keen to go, particularly those whose service carried a pension, and the combined effect of taking these volunteers together with those that the regiment no longer thought fit was that there was an influx of younger private soldiers. They were sad though to lose nine young officers, most of whom had just joined, and they departed to ‘their fathers’ homes with heavy hearts at the thought of quitting a service of which they had only tasted the sweets’.4 This was a serious blow to a small regiment which needed new blood, but the cutbacks meant that there were just not the commissions available unless some of the older officers decided to sell their positions, which they did not.


Soldiers’ dreams of a hero’s homecoming were also rudely interrupted by the realisation that the government would require them to serve in altogether less exciting places than the Peninsula. The recent trouble in Ireland meant that there was now to be a regular garrison of 30,000 troops there,5 and there were 75,000 posted in overseas garrisons like the West Indies, particularly unpopular because it was so unhealthy, the Mediterranean and in Africa. The most dreaded news, though, was a posting to North America, where Britain had been at war with the United States since June 1812. The Royals were warned for service in Canada, at that time threatened with invasion by the United States, which caused considerable gloom. ‘Was the repose of barely five months in England to be considered as too great a blessing, only to be expiated by an immediate embarkation to the frozen lakes and black forests of Canada?’ bemoaned Lieutenant Sigismund Trafford.6 In the end they were stood down, but others were less fortunate. The end of hostilities in Europe allowed Britain to send three major deployments to America, so that by late 1814 there were 48,000 regular troops fighting there. Peace was finally negotiated in December 1814, but news of it reached the army besieging New Orleans too late to save them from a bloody and unsuccessful attack under Wellington’s brother-in-law General Packenham. Twenty-eight per cent of the soldiers who fought there became casualties.


But the most persistent complaint of these returning warriors was that they were bored. This was a young, aggressive army, most of whom had only known active service. The Napoleonic Wars had been going on, intermittently, since 1793, and anyone who had joined before then, when soldiers still powdered and tied their hair in queues and wore breeches and gaiters, was now well into their forties or dead. Then the British Army had been something of a joke. It had never ‘shown itself on the continent but to be beaten, chased, forced to re-embark or forced to capitulate’, Macaulay commented, unkindly but truthfully.7 Its equipment was poor, its soldiers badly trained and its tactics unaltered since the Seven Years War 30 years earlier. The defeats and embarrassments of the 1790s had been hard lessons, but, as Wellington remarked, they taught the Army ‘what not to do, which is always something’,8 and they had been learned. The reforms introduced by the Grand Old Duke of York, much maligned as commander-in-chief because of his private life and later by nursery rhymers, had proved remarkably effective and, once they were honed by Wellington in Spain, had produced, for its day, one of the most efficient and well-equipped armies that Britain has ever fielded. Weapons, tactics and training had been comprehensively improved and updated, and new techniques were introduced. The horse artillery, with its fast gun teams that could operate with the cavalry, was expanded, and the Baker rifle was introduced into specialist ‘rifle’ regiments, who wore green as opposed to the regulation red. From 1801 specific battalions were trained as light infantry under the new ‘Shorncliffe’ system, pioneered by Sir John Moore; by 1815 there were ten of these battalions of ‘light bobs’. They trained their soldiers to operate in small teams making use of the ground rather than in the line formation of the traditional infantry. From the fortified lines of Torres Vedras, outside Lisbon, where Wellington had turned back Massena in 1810, to Toulouse, which they took in April 1814, this ‘infamous’ army had been never lost a major engagement. They were an army used to combat, and peacetime soldiering in barracks was something new to them. They were not at all sure that they liked it.


The Royals certainly did not much like their new home in Bristol. Trafford thought the people there were ‘Jacobinically inclined’ and ‘omitted nothing to induce the men to desert’.9 This was possibly because they had been outraged at a particularly severe flogging the regiment had inflicted on one of its soldiers, something which, although unusual in a cavalry regiment, usually caused public revulsion. In December 1814 the Royals were moved to the West Country to help the excise men catch smugglers, but they found Exeter even worse. ‘Barrack life is everywhere and always the same,’ Trafford complained, ‘uniformly dull and uninteresting. It is precisely the same thing whether the regiment is quartered in Exeter or Ipswich or Canterbury or Birmingham or where you please in the United Kingdom, the same routine invariably takes place. The barrack Chaplin regularly attends the Riding School on a Sunday at twelve o’clock. Riding School drills and squad parades at 4 pm on Monday. Tuesday a parade under arms, every man off duty to attend. A parade in marching order and inspection of necessities the other two days in the week.’10


William Hay of the 12th Light Dragoons was even ruder about Dorchester. ‘It was the most horrid, dull, stupid inland town I had ever known. I may say that, until then, I never knew what it was to lead, what is commonly termed, a barrack yard life. We had hunting, it is true, of an indifferent kind; and an old fellow, a yeoman farmer, who at the time was an Army contractor to supply the cavalry regiments with forage, gave us some amusement in his meadows, where we used to hunt rats to pass the dull hours.’11


Part of the problem was women, or the lack of ‘society’, as female companionship was politely known. Soldiers then, as now, suffer from conflicting emotions. They love the excitement and comradeship of active service but equally they worry that army life will stop them forming relationships. After five years in the Peninsula, one of the things they were looking forward to most about coming home was the chance to find girls. The reluctance to deploy to the USA and Canada was not so much fear of fighting again, which offered the opportunity for promotion, although Major Phil Dorville did say when he was drunk in the mess one night that he didn’t want to ‘cock-up upon a bank of snow in the middle of a dark wood and perhaps find the arrow of some damn’d copper coloured Indian sticking in one’s arse’.12 It was more a fear of missing out once again on the opportunities to which they had looked forward for so long.


The Royals found Exeter distinctly unfriendly. ‘The society of the town is rarely open to the military and when it is, after a length of time, a change of squadrons or of quarters puts an end to the little visiting that may have commenced. The billiard tables, the pastry cook, the fruitier or the oyster shop is the general resort of the barrack officer. To him the joys of love are never known’,13 Trafford continued. He and his brother officers mercilessly teased poor Lieutenant Ralph Heathcote, one of those ‘certain number of men found in every regiment who are incapable of dancing and of frivolity’,14 whose rather clumsy efforts to find a wife ended in ridicule. Heathcote ‘was a clever, studious man but very retired in his ways and besides very plain in his person and apparently the last man to attempt to make himself agreeable to women’.15 He had purchased a commission in 1806, and he had fought through the Peninsula, writing a series of rather priggish letters to his parents in (what was to become) Germany, where his father was George III’s minister in Hesse-Kassel. His friends were therefore somewhat surprised that he should choose to go to the Exeter Ball, a monthly gathering of the great and the good. There he met a Miss Dickenson, ‘a young innocent girl, who was fond of flirting, handsome, well made and perfectly adapted by nature to inspire the softer passion’. They exchanged half a dozen words and parted. Heathcote then took himself to the next monthly ball, and found Miss Dickenson during the few spare minutes when she happened to be unengaged to dance. He told her that he had something important to say to her in private. The bewildered girl asked what it could possibly be that could not be said in public, but Heathcote insisted it was ‘of particular consequence’ and begged her to follow him into the card room.


‘Hereupon Heathcote put on a grave face, took out his snuff box and taking a large dose between his fingers, applied it abundantly to his nostrils by way of making himself more lovely. He then informed the young trembling girl that she was the object of his heart, that he was persuaded she had a mutual passion for him, and proposed an immediate marriage with her. The poor girl began to stammer and hesitate. This Heathcote argued favourably to himself. Then taking an additional pinch of snuff he added “well then I will immediately mention the thing to your father and I doubt not that it will be settled immediately”.’ It was not until Miss Dickenson had made it abundantly plain that she entertained no affection whatever for Heathcote and that her father would be extremely offended by any such approach that he desisted. It could all have remained private had Heathcote not called for silence in the hackney coach taking the officers back to the barracks where ‘he began rubbing his hands and having obtained silence, exclaimed how happy he was to have got so well out of the scrape’.


Otherwise ‘Servant girls, the very refuse of footmen and ostlers, whores, that prostitute themselves for a glass of liquor, are the officers’ most obedient attendants’,16 bemoaned Trafford, who was reflecting a general view prevailing throughout the Army that the victors of the Peninsular Campaign had somehow been ignored by women since they had got home. The only female company poor clumsy Heathcote had known was to be found in Spanish prostitutes, and they regarded the British as inferior performers to the French, much to the fury of Trafford. He and his friend Captain Micklethwaite had found one of his officers, Lewis Gasquet, drunk and completely naked in a Spanish house with ‘the females extremely mirthful upon the smallness of poor Lewis’ male instrument at the same time exclaiming that all the English were made alike, children in their genital parts. This accusation incensed Micklethwaite to such a degree that he instantly pulled forth his own well proportioned instrument and placed it upon the shoulders of one of the girls. This frightened all the ladies, who locked themselves up for the night in their rooms.’17


During the war, when regiments had fought and suffered alongside each other, and been closely grouped in brigades (a combination of three or four regiments or battalions under a general, usually assembled for a particular battle or operation),18 the distinct social hierarchy that normally differentiated them had become less relevant. Now they were back home, in a Britain very aware of position and income, and with ambitious mothers and wives, it became more important. At the top of this hierarchy were the cavalry and Guards regiments. All the cavalry were considered smart, but some more so than others. The very smartest were the two regiments of Life Guards, who constituted the Household Cavalry, and who were now back in London once again guarding the monarch, together with the Royal Horse Guards, always known as the Blues, with whom they alternated between Knightsbridge, Regent’s Park and Windsor. The accepted stereotype was that all their officers were very rich and joined as much for the social life of London as for soldiering, but, as so often with stereotypes, this masks a more complicated reality. There were certainly very rich officers throughout the ranks of both the Life Guards and the Blues, men such as Robert Hill, who commanded the Blues, and who had large estates in Shropshire, or George Sulivan, a young lieutenant in 1st Life Guards whose father had made a fortune in India and who had bought him a lieutenancy at the huge cost of £1,600 (£120,000 today).19 Yet there were also men like Captain Edward Kelly, for whom life was a protracted struggle to support a wife and daughters whose social ambition rather overmatched his means. He saw himself very much as the professional soldier, perhaps rather more than his contemporaries did, and he had been one of the first instructors at the new military academy. For Kelly, soldiering was more a method of advancement and paying his bills than it was a social pleasure.


The Household Cavalry was ‘heavy cavalry’ – big men riding strong horses, whose role was to shatter enemy formations in the charge, as they had done very effectively in the Peninsula. After them in terms of regimental seniority came the rest of the heavy cavalry, dragoon or dragoon-guard regiments such as the Royals. A dragoon was originally a soldier who would ride a horse but dismount to fight. However, that role had gradually disappeared during the previous century and all such regiments were now cavalry who would fight on horseback. There were 15 of them in total. Next in seniority to the Household Cavalry came the King’s Dragoon Guards, then the remainder of the dragoon-guard regiments, and after them the five regiments of dragoons. There was no actual difference in role between a dragoon guard or a simple dragoon; they all did the same thing.


Francis Kinchant, whose father managed in late 1814 to purchase a ‘cornetcy’ for him in the 2nd Dragoons, the famous Scots Greys, so called because they always rode grey horses, was fairly typical of those who served as a junior cavalry officer. A cornet was the most junior commissioned rank in a cavalry regiment, equating to a second lieutenant or ensign in the infantry. Kinchant was full of enthusiasm for his regiment and for life in general and thought his regiment ‘the most crack cavalry corps in the service. I don’t think there is a private [soldier] under 5 feet 11 inches and the officers are a fine gentlemanly set of fellows, there being only three Scotchmen among the officers’ although, he added, the majority of the private soldiers were ‘Scotch’. He was very keen to get himself passed out of riding school, where he was being made to ride without stirrups to develop a more secure ‘seat’ and where he found that ‘the method of riding is altogether different to that of the country squire’. He wanted to join his troop and take his full place in the regiment but his concerns were as much about money and girlfriends. He did not greatly rate his father, whom he referred to as ‘the old goat’, and with whom his main communication seemed to be to extract money for horses and uniform, which were certainly expensive. The ‘most dashing appearance’ of the regiment came at a cost, such as their best dress coats at 40 guineas, which would be about £3,150 today. He also spent quite a bit of his time chasing ‘that beautiful creature Letitia’, on whom he seems to have set his heart. ‘Amongst the innumerable collection of pieces at this place I have met with no one half so enchanting, nor have I had a real relish since I left her’ he wrote to his friend John Hall from Bristol, where his regiment were stationed.20


It was, however, the ‘light’ cavalry who were seen as the more fashionable regiments and several of them had distinguished themselves on operational service in the Peninsula. One of the best known was the 7th Light Dragoons, the famous ‘Saucy Seventh’ as they were nicknamed, whose colonel was Henry Paget, Lord Uxbridge. The 7th prided themselves on their rather rakish image. Their recruiting posters declared that they wanted ‘young fellows whose hearts beat high to tread the paths of glory’ and had an enticing ‘NB’ at the bottom, designed to appeal to high-spirited young men, and which read ‘The Regiment is mounted on Blood Horses, and being lately returned from Spain, and the Horses Young, the Men will not be allowed to HUNT during the next season more than once a week’.21 In 1807 the 7th had been allowed by the Prince Regent to style themselves unofficially as hussars, after the famous Hungarian light cavalry, and had adopted the hussar uniform of fur capes and imposing if impractical tall caps; but, as with dragoons and dragoon guards, there was no actual difference in role between hussars and light dragoons.


Lieutenant Standish O’Grady found life in Brighton, where the 7th was guarding the Prince Regent, rather more agreeable than Sigismund Trafford found Exeter. After returning from the Peninsular War he had gone home on leave to Limerick, where his family had large estates, and was not really sure that he wanted to return to the regiment. ‘Dear Chief’, he wrote to his father, who would become Lord Chief Justice in Ireland, ‘I never left home with more regret than last time, we had so delightful a party and all seemed so sorry to part.’22 Yet once he was back with his old friends from the regiment he seemed to cheer up. ‘I go out with the foxhounds tomorrow in a capital country’, he wrote, proving there was some truth in what the recruiters had said, and ‘I intend going to every ball, party, drum, humdrum and alarm that is given – this is a very neat little place’ and, he added, reflecting no love for his future monarch, ‘likely to be pleasant when our nuisance goes to Carlton House, which I am sorry to say will not be for a month’.


Romance was as dominant in the lives of the officers of the 7th Light Dragoons as it was with the Royals, but they seemed to be more successful. ‘Pipon is to be married at the beginning of next month to Miss Ommany, rather a rum one, by whom he gets five hundred a year. It is said he expected 2,000 but he may think himself well off if that is his only complaint’, O’Grady told his parents, and later ‘My friend Bob Uniacke is, I am much afraid, to be married to a Miss Dashwood, daughter of Lady Dashwood who is rather a tiger; he is more changed than any young man I ever heard or read of; from being a fine rattling noisy fellow he has now not a word to say for himself . . . Wildman is certainly to be married; if she’ll accept him to a Miss Lieth, a daughter of Lady Augusta Lieth; she is not quite fifteen and the joke is Wildman’s only reason to us for being such a fool is that it has ever been his opinion that the first love insures happiness – forgetting that this girl was near hanging herself for Synge of the old 10th who is at least six feet 4. I did not think we had so many fools in the 7th.’


O’Grady was an intelligent and articulate man, and a competent and brave soldier, and although his letters could be dismissed as mere gossip, they tell us much about regimental officers’ priorities that winter. O’Grady himself was in something of a quandary. His socially ambitious mother wanted him to marry a certain Kitty. He undoubtedly liked Kitty very much, but never quite seems to have been in love with her. He was only 22, and not the sort of man to marry just because his parents wanted him to. His correspondence over the months ahead would be full of teasing for his mother’s matrimonial ambition.


Such apparent flippancy is understandable, given what the regiment had been through in the Peninsula, and if Standish O’Grady appeared to be focusing on all the wrong things, then Captain Rees Gronow of the 1st Foot Guards, the son of a wealthy Welsh landowner and close friend of Shelley, would appear to have drifted further astray. The Foot Guards were very much the smartest of the infantry, and were, like the Life Guards and the Blues, now back in London. Gronow’s battalion returned from Bordeaux in 1814 to its old quarters in Portman Street where, whilst his soldiers mounted guard in London much as the Foot Guards still do today, Gronow and his friends became preoccupied with London society. ‘At the present time one can hardly conceive the importance which was attached to getting admission to Almack’s, the seventh heaven of the fashionable world. Of the three hundred officers of the Foot Guards, not more than half a dozen were honoured with vouchers of admission to this exclusive temple of the beau monde, the gates of which were guarded by lady patronesses whose smile or frowns consigned men and women to happiness or despair.’23 Yet Gronow had been campaigning with his battalion since leaving Eton, aged 18, in 1812 and had fought in all the major actions since. He described ‘the sensation of being made a target to a large body of men’ as ‘not particularly pleasant’ and noted that ‘the first man I ever saw killed was a Spanish soldier, who was cut in two by a cannon ball’.24 We can, therefore, perhaps forgive him for wanting to live a little.


After the Foot Guards, ranked the line infantry regiments. They were known by their number, from 1st to 104th, and about half of them had two battalions, each of about 1,000 men. They were the backbone of the Army, the men who had trudged across Portugal, Spain and France, withstanding the best Napoleon could throw at them. They were not county regiments as such, that connection only being formalised much later in the Cardwell Reforms of 1871, but tended to have strong local links, to recruit from a particular area and to be listed in the Army List as, for example, ‘14th or Buckinghamshire Regiment of Foot’.


This regional recruiting was more marked in regiments with a definite local identity, such as those raised in Scotland, like the 42nd (the Black Watch), the 73rd (Highland) and the 92nd (Gordons) from the Highlands. The 27th Foot were an Irish regiment, confusingly called ‘Inniskilling’ like the 6th Dragoons, which was an Irish cavalry regiment of whom we will be hearing much, and had a majority of Irish soldiers. But even in these regiments with clearly defined geographical links there were many soldiers from all over the British Isles and, as Kinchant noted, the officers did not necessarily go for commissions in their local regiment, but went instead where there were vacancies or they could establish some link through family or friends. There was one regiment of riflemen, the 95th, of whom we will also be hearing much more, and the ten battalions officially designated as ‘light infantry’, who had developed a reputation for particular skill and fitness in the Peninsula that gave them a certain esprit.


None of these officers actually needed to stay in the Army. Trafford’s family had a productive estate at Wroxham Hall in Norfolk, and both O’Grady and Gronow had family money behind them. They stayed for much the same reasons that they had originally joined. First, they had a genuine desire to serve the country, a sort of social reimbursement by those for whom the agricultural and industrial revolutions had provided ample funds and time. They hated what Napoleonic France stood for, threatening what they regarded as British liberty, their ‘property’ in the widest sense and their right to acquire it and enjoy it. It was no coincidence that the Yeomanry, who were created by Pitt as a sort of mounted Home Guard, adopted as their motto ‘For King, Liberty and Property’.


For some officers the hatred of France was deep and personal, such as for Thomas Graham, a Scottish landowner whose young wife died whilst being treated in the south of France. As Graham was bringing her coffin back for burial in Scotland, it was waylaid by a party of drunken French Revolutionary soldiers who molested the body, so enraging Graham that he immediately enrolled as a volunteer. Secondly, officers stayed because the Army gave them position and a role in life when such things were even more important than they are today; the Army was a route to social advancement. Thirdly, they stayed because they liked what they were doing and did not want to leave their regiments, their brother officers and their soldiers. That has not changed to this day.


Trafford, Kinchant, O’Grady and Gronow had all purchased their commissions, which had been common practice in the cavalry and infantry since the Restoration of 1660. The most expensive was Gronow’s; it cost his father £3,500 (£262,500 today)25 for him to become a captain in the First Guards, whilst Trafford paid £2,782 (£209,000 today) for the same rank in the Royals, and O’Grady paid £997 (£75,000 today) to purchase his lieutenancy in the 7th Light Dragoons.26 They could have sold these valuable positions easily in 1815, the army reductions having created a shortage of vacancies and many young men who had hoped to join their regiments being turned away.


Life as an officer was hardly remunerative. Once they had purchased their commission, young officers then had to buy their uniform and, in the case of Trafford and O’Grady, mount themselves. In return they were all paid about £300 per annum (about £22,500 today), from which deductions were made by both the government for food and lodging, and by the regiment for membership of the mess, where officers collectively ate, and for extras such as paying for the regimental bands, which were then privately raised. Once they had paid for their own servants, there was very little left and all three, being in what were termed fashionable regiments, needed a private income to survive. Yet except for a very few particularly rich young men, army pay formed the main source of income for the majority of officers and it was what allowed them to live. Seniority and promotion, with its accompanying increase in pay, was therefore jealously guarded, and although many of the letters home from Waterloo were requests for extra parental funds, these tended to be to help with the extras rather than the basics.


Commissions themselves were seen as an investment, which were sold on when an officer was promoted or when he left, so the initial outlay was recouped. Officers could also elect to go on ‘half pay’, which meant that they stayed in the Army and kept their commission but did not actually have a job with their regiment. This was a useful way of maintaining a sort of regimental reserve, which was to prove critical in 1815, although it remained unpopular with many politicians and commentators, who saw it as an unjustified use of public money. Not all commissions were purchased, and officers could also be promoted to vacancies caused by death on active service – brevet rank as it was known – or just by seniority if there was no one available to purchase an appointment that needed filling. The casualties in the Peninsula, and the fact that campaigning did not appeal to everyone, meant that by 1811 there was a serious shortage of candidates to purchase; between 1810 and 1815, on average only 12 per cent of commissions were purchased in regiments of foot and 42 per cent in the cavalry.27 But by 1815 the reductions meant that commissions had become difficult to get and purchase was consequently once again becoming more frequent.


In the artillery, which had become an increasingly important part of the Army during the war, and in the small corps of Royal Engineers, officers were appointed to commissions rather than buying them and then promoted according to seniority. Artillery and engineer officers were also the first to be professionally trained, at the Royal Military Academy at Woolwich, which meant that they were often a source of wise advice, although Wellington, who did not much care for ‘gunners’, as the artillery were called, initially made a point of ignoring it in the Peninsula.28 Both the artillery and the engineers answered to the Master-General of the Ordnance rather than to the commander-in-chief as the cavalry and infantry did, although once mobilised they were firmly under the operational orders of the field commander. Alexander Mercer, who commanded ‘G’ Troop Royal Horse Artillery in Colchester, was a typical artillery officer. Thirty-two in 1815, he had fought in America but not Spain, and his father had been an army officer before him. Professional, not particularly rich, and technically competent, he and his soldiers will play a major part in our story.


Something of a myth has developed which holds that all British army officers during the Napoleonic Wars were remote and separated by some huge social gulf from the soldiers they led. There were, certainly, a few very rich officers; for example, 206 peers or sons of peers were serving in 1815.29 They were mostly, but by no means exclusively, in the Guards or cavalry, or on the staff, as Wellington and his senior officers rather liked having the ‘sprigs of the aristocracy’ as their ADCs. Wellington seems to have had something of an obsession with having Foot Guards officers on his staff, prompting the Duke of York, as commander-in-chief, and Colonel of 1st Guards, to complain to him before Waterloo that he was taking so many that the actual battalions were in danger of being weakened.30 But most officers were the sons of the landed gentry, churchmen or businessmen, and, although not poor, were certainly not grand.


Several routes were also open to young men who wanted a commission but couldn’t afford one. They could join on the ‘volunteer system’,31 not to be confused with the county volunteer regiments that Pitt raised against possible French invasion, who were also called volunteers. Under this individual volunteer system, which predominantly applied to the infantry, young men joined as potential officers. They fought in the ranks but lived and ate with the officers, the idea being that the commanding officer would eventually appoint them to a vacant position as an ensign when one became available. They were unpaid but received rations and carried a musket and bayonet, as opposed to the sword and pistols with which officers were usually armed, although in practice on the battlefield most young officers would use a musket like their men. Edward Macready joined the 30th Foot under this system as a 16-year-old in 1814. His father was an Irish actor-manager who came over to England to start a theatre; but it went bust and purchasing a commission was beyond their means. With his elder brother William, who would later become a well-known tragedy actor, already following his father onto the stage, Edward joined the Army. He served in Holland with the regiment and was duly made an ensign, in which rank he would fight at Waterloo.32


Young men could also purchase quartermasters’ commissions, which were cheaper and which meant they didn’t have to live in the officers’ mess, which could be a significant additional expense, especially in peacetime. John Elley’s father ran a pub called the Furnival Inn in Leeds. He initially apprenticed his son to a tanner, but Elley soon got bored of tanning and, aged 17, persuaded him to buy him a quartermasters’ commission in the Blues, one of the grandest and most efficient regiments in the Army. Elley did so well that he was ‘gazetted’ as a troop cornet and by 1808 was a lieutenantcolonel commanding the regiment, having progressed entirely on merit. At Waterloo he was Uxbridge’s deputy, commanding the cavalry,33 and Wellington would have had him commanding the Household Brigade had the Duke of York, as commander-in-chief, not already given it to Somerset.34 His is a remarkable story but he was by no means unique in a world where social mobility was sometimes easier to achieve than it has been in 21st-century Britain.


Commissioning soldiers from the ranks was also quite normal, even in the cavalry and regiments of foot. During the Peninsular War 803 non-commissioned officers (NCOs) were given commissions. Two hundred and seventy-one became quartermasters, and 139 became adjutants, the positions in a regiment responsible for food and accommodation, and daily administration, respectively. A further 392 were given what were known as ‘combatant’ commands, leading fighting troops on a par with those who had purchased commissions.35 More common was to give NCOs commissions in regiments which were stationed overseas in places that conventional officers did not want to serve, partly because they were unhealthy and partly because they were away from the action. This was to cause some issues after Waterloo. Generally, commissioned NCOs were quickly accepted by both their brother officers and their soldiers, although there were the odd exceptions. Lord Hill, one of Wellington’s most senior and trusted generals, congratulated a sergeant on being commissioned, asking him ‘How do you feel in your new character? You are a gentleman now, you know’; to which Sergeant Macbride replied, ‘Thank you, my lord, for myself I feels perfectly comfortable, but I trembles for Mrs Macbride.’36


Thomas Morris, of the 73rd Regiment and a bit of a barrack-room lawyer, whose journal bristles with indignation at the severe corporal punishment often inflicted, was a more discordant voice. He hated the purchase system. ‘Should this country again be involved in war, it is to be hoped the army will be placed on a different footing to what it has been, and that commissions will not be bestowed on individuals simply because they belong to this or that noble family. Then we may expect to have an efficient set of officers.’37 His unusually strong opinion may be partly because he would fight at Waterloo under a very old company commander who had never been in action before and whom he despised, yet he did have considerable respect for the lieutenant-colonel in overall command of his battalion.


Despite what Thomas Morris thought, most soldiers felt that the officers were rather closer to their men than is generally supposed. Although officers would naturally bond with and ‘mess’ with each other both in barracks and on active service, they also bonded with the unit for which they were responsible, whether it was a troop of 60 cavalrymen or an infantry company of around 100. Regiments were close-knit groups, with soldiers and officers mutually dependent, and with a shared sense of coherence and pride. Even the 1814 reductions, hard as they were, had not seriously weakened the sense of camaraderie developed in Portugal and Spain. There are several reports of soldiers found guilty of an offence choosing to be flogged rather than transferred to another regiment when given the option. The majority of soldiers regarded their regiment as their home and family and were intensely jealous of its reputation and of their part in it; the opinion of their comrades was often the most important thing to them. William Wheeler, a private in the 51st Regiment of Foot, just missed having his head blown off by a round shot at Badajoz. ‘I thought I was wounded’, he wrote, ‘my head ached violently. I felt the pain a long time and it was with difficulty I could perform my duty. Had I been working in a place where there was no danger I certainly should have given up, but here I was ashamed to complain, lest any of my comrades laugh at me.’38 Wheeler was later offered the chance of being invalided home but didn’t take it, preferring to ‘rejoin my regiment again and take my chance with it. Then when this protracted war is over . . . I should have the proud satisfaction of landing on my native shores with many a brave and gallant comrade, with whom I braved the dangers of many a hard fought battle.’39


The 200,000-odd soldiers serving in the British Army in 1815 represented a considerable cross-section of society. The average age for joining was 18, although some joined at 16, which was technically the minimum. Men signed up either for unlimited service, which meant as long as the Army needed them, after which they would be discharged with a pension, or alternatively they could choose to sign for seven years without a pension. It might be supposed that this would lead to quite an old army but, in reality, a combination of an annual attrition rate from disease and battle of about 10 per cent in the Peninsula, together with the 1814 reductions, meant the average age for those serving in early 1815 was 22. The oldest man in the Blues at Waterloo was Joseph Holdsworth, who at forty-two was one of the very few still serving who had fought in the Revolutionary Wars in Flanders in the 1790s. From 1811 the practice of recruiting boys under 16, usually as drummers or trumpeters, was formalised and the limit was set at ten per company. Many of these were in fact ‘children of the regiment’, whose father was serving or had been killed, and who regarded the regiment as their home. Not all drummers and trumpeters were boys, their function being vital to communicating orders.40


About half the soldiers could probably read and write, and the increasing number of letters and journals from the 1790s onwards shows how educational reforms were beginning to take effect. Those who were literate tended to be promoted to NCO more quickly, given the increasing amount of administration an NCO had to deal with, and able men could advance rapidly. Thomas Bell, a well-educated man and a silversmith who joined the Blues in 1806 aged 22, was a corporal-major, the most senior NCO position in the regiment, at Waterloo aged 31.


The idea that there were lots of ex-criminals in the ranks is without foundation. Recruits had to swear on ‘attestation’ when they signed up that they had no criminal record, and had to provide character witnesses, although in practice petty crimes were probably overlooked.41 Many joined because they were running away from family problems, a refuge that armies have traditionally provided, but men would not be accepted if they were already apprenticed in another trade. Crime within the Army itself was low, especially when compared with civilian life, with theft from one another rare, although on campaign more looting went on than was generally acknowledged, despite officers’ attempts to stop it. There had, in particular, been one or two major breakdowns in discipline in Spain after the terrible sieges of 1812, which have had a disproportionate effect on the Peninsular Army’s reputation. This has contributed to the false idea that the British Army in the Napoleonic Wars was a group of ruffians who fought from fear of the lash; they were no saints but they certainly conducted themselves better than their later image suggests. All soldiers joined the Army of their own free will, unlike many of their European counterparts and their French enemies. They joined for a variety of reasons; as far as one can generalise such a commitment, it was a mixture of patriotism combined with a motivation to achieve more than their current circumstances offered.


Thomas Playford joined the Army because he wanted more out of life than labouring on his father’s small farm in Yorkshire. He had attended the village school until he was 15, where he asked about everything and was nicknamed ‘the unbelieving Jew’42. He was very fond of reading and ‘seldom joined the village boys in their sports, but on holidays I was often to be seen alone on the banks of the river [Dun] angling’. The Life Guards, whom his mother had heard were respectable, ‘had more pay than the wages of a farm labourer, attended the King and Queen on public occasions and never went abroad’, or so he thought. He joined in September 1810, aged just 16 but very tall at six foot two, fought in the Peninsula, returning to London in July 1814. He found London quite dull but was struck by the opulence of Carlton House, the Prince Regent’s London residence, where he ‘looked on in bewildered amazement as if I was in an enchanted region. A stream of water flowed along the centre of the tables, with fish of a golden and silver kind swimming’ in it. His duties, ‘performing guard at Whitehall, attending the royal family on public occasions, suppressing riotous assemblages of the populace, with attending field exercises and taking care of my horse and appointments, were not things of difficult performance even for a youth in his teens’. Bored, he took a walk-on part in Timour the Tartar, then playing in Covent Garden.


Another Life Guard was John Shaw, something of a national celebrity by January 1815. From Wollaston in Nottinghamshire, Shaw was a boxer, both bare-fisted and with gloves. Aged 16 he had challenged a ‘strongly built man, at least three stone heavier than himself’. Shaw ‘stripped, and, heedless of the disparaging remarks from all quarters about himself, walked confidently into the ring, and formally defied his adversary by throwing up his hat’. The fight went badly, and Shaw was getting severely mauled, when a ‘powerful looking man elbowed his way into the ring, and, tapping the lad on the shoulder, encouraged him with the words “Youngster, don’t you give it up. The big un won’t get the better of you after all; he’s hitting too wildly, and’s a deal too cheeky. Take my advice, back away from him, and fight slow, and you’ll lick him, as sure as my name’s Jem Belcher.”’43 Shaw took the advice of the all-England champion and duly won his fight. He joined the Life Guards in 1807 and continued his boxing career, training at the famous Fives Court gymnasium, and building up his strength so that by 1812 he was over six foot and weighed 15 stone. He won a series of fights, including beating the celebrated West Countryman Burrows in just 17 minutes, which resulted in Burrows being led blind and bleeding from the ring. He also developed something of a reputation as a ladies’ man, making himself available for a very wide variety of services to fashionable women, including posing nude as an artist’s model. He was described by a contemporary as ‘large and rather coarse, his countenance indicated a measure of good nature as well as of determined purpose. His broad chest, muscular arms, and large bony hands, denoted a powerful antagonist.’ He was as good a swordsman as he was a pugilist and ‘a blow from his sword would have been dangerous and disabling if not fatal to an armed man, and a stroke of his clenched fist dreadful to a weak man’.44


John Bingley was more of the Boy’s Own hero type who longed to get away from the drudgery of rural Leicestershire. He had seen a troop of the Blues in the local area and was immediately taken with them. The newspapers were full of Wellington’s success in pushing Massena back into Spain and the victory of Fuentes de Oñoro. Having promised his father to be home in good time from Blaby market, he instead took a stagecoach to London, walked to Windsor, and just outside the barrack gates met ‘the Corporal Major and asked him if he wanted a jolly recruit. He replied I was joking him, I said I was not come 130 miles for a joke but was serious and sober – so after going through different examinations he engaged me.’45 Bingley was 26 when he joined, much older than normal, and he started something of a craze in Leicestershire with 20 more recruits following him in the next few weeks. Their motivation was partly patriotic and partly the need to do something more with their lives than cart vegetables. They would soon have all the excitement they needed.


Then were those who had rows with their parents and just wanted to get away from home. William Lawrence, from Briantspuddle in Dorset, joined to get away from the builder to whom he was apprenticed and who beat him. One of seven children, uneducated, and with unsympathetic parents, he first tried to join the artillery, but they found out he was an apprentice, and he had to go as far as Taunton, where he would not be recognised, before he was accepted by the 40th Regiment.46 There were many similar stories in Ireland, which then, before the Great Famine, made up a quarter of the population of the United Kingdom but provided a greater proportion of recruits. They joined not just the official Irish regiments, of which there were three cavalry and eight infantry, but were also recruited by English regiments which were stationed for so long in Ireland. About 30 per cent of the Army in 1815 was Irish, and they predominantly served in the infantry as opposed to the cavalry and artillery.47


About a third of recruits listed their previous profession as labourer, and about a quarter of the remainder had been weavers, a proportion which held good for both English and Irish recruits. The large number of weavers joining the Army had been the case for the last decade, as mechanisation in the textile industry had gradually made the old village hand looms redundant. The decline in these village looms was one of the most significant aspects of the Industrial Revolution and one which would have as great an effect on rural English life as enclosures. Whereas in the eighteenth century manufacturers would distribute their yarn around villages to be spun into cloth in so many homes, it was now cheaper and more efficient to spin it centrally, using new technology. A spinning jenny required only a quarter of the labour force of the hand looms and a water frame replaced several hundred. It was very good work if you could get it, paying 44s. (£165) per week, but it came at the cost of the 3–4s. a family could have earned from their hand loom, which, with bread at about 1s. a loaf (£3.75 today) had meant the difference between young men staying in their village or having to find work elsewhere such as in the Army. This was particularly true in the North of England, Scotland and in Ireland, where village weaving had been prolific, and where the parallel industrialisation of the linen industry was putting additional pressure on rural life.48 Mathew Clay, a framework knitter from Mansfield in Nottinghamshire, joined the 3rd Foot Guards in London in December 1813. He had ‘a fresh complexion, with grey eyes and light hair’ and was only five foot seven inches tall so he was assigned to the Light Company of the 2nd Battalion. It was to prove a rather more significant posting than he realised. Weavers also joined the cavalry as well as the infantry, and it was a myth that cavalry regiments were full of farm boys who had grown up with horses. Most had to be taught to ride from scratch, and part of the Duke of York’s army reforms after the Revolutionary Wars in the 1790s was a three-month basic plan for riding school.


Poverty and lack of opportunity of a rather different kind was what drove Thomas Howell to join the 71st Highlanders. He came from an educated Edinburgh family, and his parents had intended him to be a ‘clergyman or writer’ but his father’s ill health meant he had to give up work so that there was little money for Thomas to continue studying. By 1815 the family income was 11s. per week (about £40 today), of which half came from his two brothers and half from a parish benefit society; parish contributions were not untypical in many families. Howell first tried to be an actor, despite his parents’ entreaties, and actually appeared in a play in Edinburgh, but once on stage his confidence deserted him and he ‘shrank unseen from the theatre bewildered and in a state of despair’. He joined up for seven years in July 1806, aged 16, without realising that his seven years would only start from his eighteenth birthday.


Soldiers also joined from either the Volunteer Force or the militia. The Volunteer Force, as opposed to the volunteer system by which men who could not afford commissions could join regiments as potential officers, had been originally created by Pitt in response to a possible threat of invasion by France and was an early sort of Home Guard. Locally raised, volunteers were part time but were compensated for lost wages, consequently making it rather popular. Over 200,000 had joined in 1803, growing to 400,000 as the threat of French invasion seemed very real before Nelson put a stop to it at Trafalgar. It was never perhaps the most effective military force, and its standard of training was low, as cartoonists like Gillray regularly pointed out, but its numbers showed a concerned patriotism. Thomas Morris, the barrack-room lawyer who despised the purchase system, and who later joined the 73rd Regiment, started life as a volunteer in Middlesex. ‘I was particularly fond of reading the heart-stirring accounts of sieges and battles, and the glorious achievements of the British troops in Spain . . . which created in me an irrepressible desire for military service; so, as the first step towards it, I became a Volunteer, and oh! How proud did I feel when having gone through my course of drill, I was permitted to join the ranks.’49 After 1805 the volunteers were slowly reduced, the government finding it rather expensive and difficult to control, but many of the volunteers found their way into the Regular Army, including quite a few boys. The Yeomanry cavalry regiments, which would later play such an important part in the British Army, were founded as part of the volunteer system,50 and their officers spent many happy hours designing splendid uniforms which would show just how fierce and patriotic they were and which would come to rival even Napoleon’s gorgeously arrayed light cavalry for the amount of gold lace and various parts of animals they incorporated.


The militia were a different and distinct organisation who produced better-trained recruits and on a more regular system. They were county-based and an ancient part of local British life which has no readily identifiable modern equivalent. They were unique in that they were allowed to conscript if they could not recruit enough volunteers to fill their ranks. This was done by a ballot amongst the able-bodied men of the county, although in practice there were many exemptions, such as apprentices, and if selected you could opt to pay for a substitute, which meant that the poor or unemployed tended to end up being the ones who joined. Most, though, were volunteers, and the militia as a whole represented a wide cross-section of British life. They were not originally allowed to serve overseas and their role was largely home defence, which in reality meant maintaining law and order at a time when there was considerable civil unrest and no police force. However, as the need for regular army manpower increased, from 1805 the government introduced a system whereby 10 per cent of the militia were encouraged to enlist in the Regular Army and were paid a bounty of between £11 and £14 (£825 and £1,050 today) for doing so, depending on how long they elected to serve. Militiamen could choose their own regiment, and often responded directly to appeals for recruits. When a particular regiment like the 95th Rifles badly needed volunteers to make up their losses after Corunna, 1,282 militiamen came forward immediately,51 and in 1814 Parliament sanctioned the transfer of whole companies from the militia to the Regular Army, many of whom fought with distinction in Spain and France and were still serving in 1815. Indeed by 1815 about 40 per cent of the Regular Army had come via the militia and about 20 per cent of the officers, who were given a commission if they could bring over 40 men with them. It was the militia to whom the Regular Army regiments would turn again in March 1815 when they had quickly to rebuild their numbers.


James Anton, the son of a poor widow in Aberdeenshire, and his friend Huntly, the son of the village schoolmistress and who was due to become apprenticed to a weaver, both joined the militia in Aberdeen in 1803. Anton’s ‘inclination was bent upon the army’ and he thought it was his duty to join whilst Huntly was simply determined to avoid being a village weaver, something he realised had little future, despite his mother wanting him to stay at home. Anton and Huntly both served all over Scotland except in Aberdeenshire itself, militia regiments never being deployed in their own counties in case they sympathised with any local troublemakers. In 1813 they transferred into the 42nd Regiment, the Black Watch, with whom they fought in Spain. Anton’s logic was that he served ‘at present secure of life and limb, but with no prospect of future benefit in old age, which I may attain; it is better to hazard both in the regular service, than have poverty and hard labour accompanying me to a peaceful grave at home’,52 which in other words meant that he thought that if he was going to serve then he might as well get the pension. Moved directly from France to Ireland after Napoleon’s fall in 1814, Anton found himself in early 1815 running a small detachment of six soldiers quartered in a village outside Kilkenny. Another soldier who joined via the militia was Edward Costello, one of the many Irishmen to do so. He was bored of being a shoemaker, so applied for the Dublin Militia, from which he transferred to the 95th Rifles, with whom he had a distinguished career in Spain, serving in a company commanded by a captain who had been promoted from the ranks for his bravery. Returning to Dover from France in 1814, he soon found himself ‘panting for fresh exploits’.53 He would not be disappointed.


Military life also offered a certain security in a world that was, for many, changing and unpredictable. The Army was certainly tough, excessively so at times, but then so had been the lives soldiers had previously been leading as labourers or weavers. Soldiers were not well paid, with an infantry sergeant earning 11s. (£40 today) a week, and a private soldier 7s. (about £26 today), although the cavalry were paid slightly more; but they were not badly paid either and their food and accommodation were provided, despite deductions being made from their pay for that. Other deductions were also made for equipment and a subscription to Chelsea Hospital should they need its services in old age. This meant that the lower ranks had very little left at the end of the week, but this was an age when saving was the privilege of very few and most people’s priority was to feed themselves and provide a roof over their heads. Given that the Army also provided pensions, albeit not very generous ones, most soldiers looked at the world outside and felt adequately provided for if not comfortable.


For both the officers and the soldiers, much depended on their commanding officer, the colonel, the man who ran the cavalry regiment or infantry battalion, and who was a demigod in that slightly closed world. They had much more influence on the everyday lives of their soldiers than did the very senior commanders, like Wellington, who were nicknamed ‘the Wigs’ and who, whilst they may have been glimpsed on a parade or inspection, to most soldiers were remote and known only by reputation. The colonel, on the other hand, was seen every day and held huge power, particularly over appointments and discipline. Although he was always referred to as ‘the colonel’, in a typically confusing bit of British Army nomenclature these commanding officers usually held the rank of lieutenant-colonel. A lieutenant-colonelcy could be purchased, and the step up from major, the rank below, was very expensive, costing £3,500 (£262,500 today) for a line infantry battalion as opposed to £2,600 (£195,000 today) for a major. However, to purchase into a lieutenant-colonel’s position an officer had to have served for nine years, and reforms introduced successively in 1801 and 1809 effectively meant that they also had to have served for at least two years in every junior rank. Many, though, of the commanding officers in 1815 were brevet appointments, usually given to experienced Peninsular veterans in recognition of their service. The average age of commanding officers at Waterloo was 37, much the same as in the British Army today.


The colonel and his character effectively made a regiment what it was; a fair and competent man – such as Frank Tidy, who commanded a battalion of the 14th Regiment – created an efficient unit and a happy atmosphere and was greatly respected by his officers and soldiers. The son of a clergyman, Tidy was a very experienced soldier and a typical commanding officer of a line infantry battalion. He had joined the Army as a volunteer aged 16, and his first overseas service was in the West Indies, where his regiment lost 13 men a day from disease. Eventually the rump surrendered to the French on Guadeloupe, reduced to two officers and 20 men. Tidy was imprisoned on a French hulk, a prison ship, in appalling conditions for 15 months before being paroled, leaving him with a particular hatred of Napoleonic France. He fought in Spain and took command of the very young 3rd Battalion of the 14th Foot in 1813, being appointed to the lieutenant-colonelcy, not purchasing it. The 3rd Battalion were typical of many battalions in the winter of 1814–15. First they were told they were being sent to Canada. Those orders were subsequently cancelled and they were told they were to be disbanded. They were then reprieved, although by that stage they had lost most of their older men. They would end up on the ridge at Waterloo.54
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